FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/21/2019 2:38 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court NO. 97259-1

Court of Appeals - 35316-8-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent,

v.

BRYAN JACK ROSS CROW,

Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

Petitioner, the State of Washington, by and through, Yakima County, asks this Court to accept review of the following Court of Appeals decision terminating review.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

Petitioner, State of Washington seeks review of the published opinion, filed on April 9, 2019 in State v. Crow, COA 35316-8-III, wherein the Court of Appeals reversed defendant's conviction for possession of a stolen firearm due to his trial counsel's ineffective assistance for failure to object to alleged profile testimony. A copy of the opinion as well as the State's Motion for Reconsideration and the order denying reconsideration are attached hereto as Appendix A and B. This petition for review is timely.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- 1. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in direct conflict with the opinion of Division II in <u>State v. Avendano-Lopez</u>, infra, as well as the opinion of Division III in <u>State v. Francisco</u>, infra.
- 2. The evidence presented was not "profile" evidence
- 3. Crow waived his right to raise this issue in the court of appeals.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

There was testimony from two officers who had contact with and arrested Crow for the crime which is the basis of this is crime and one detective who worked the case to confirm the weapon was stolen. These

officers to some extent testified how a firearm can be obtained if a person had the legal restrictions Crow has.

Officer Taylor had numerous previous contacts with Crow which were addressed before trial through a motion in limine citing ER 609 as a basis to exclude reference to or use of that history. This was discussed again during trial RP 28-44, 157-58 and again during a hearing about use and admission of "COBAN" video RP 131-32 and finally at another hearing before the court where Crow stating "...he's mentioned that he's contacted Crow twenty times, prior violent offenses, former or an active Surenos gang member, multiple times convicted felon." Trial counsel was concerned about this information getting to the jury. He told the court there had been prior contact as well as the fact there was an outstanding warrant for Crow at the time of this arrest. RP 15-56.

Officer Taylor saw Crow and knew of outstanding warrants. He approached Crow to a "comfortable" distance and called out his name. Crow turned and looked directly at Officer Taylor then immediately ran from the officer. Taylor yelled "stop, you're under arrest" and reached for his taser. RP 172. Officer Taylor was in full uniform and was driving a marked patrol car at the time. RP 175. Officer Taylor was attempting to apprehend Crow and was within ten feet when he was deploying his taser. Officer Taylor observed Crow reach into his waistband with his right hand

and pull out a firearm. RP 176-77, 1099-200. The officer knew it was a firearm, he observed Crow immediately throw this firearm to the ground and he continued to run from Officer Taylor. Officer Taylor threw down his taser and drew his service revolver, he had been trained where there was one weapon there were two. RP 176-77. Officer Taylor ceased chasing Crow and took possession of the discarded gun lying on the ground. While chasing Crow Taylor radioed officers what was occurring. RP 177. Taylor eventually ran the serial numbers on the gun Crow had thrown, it had been reported stolen by the Seattle police department. The gun had was loaded with a round in the chamber. RP 191-2.

Taylor was questioned by the State regarding the method and location a person can legally purchase a firearm. There was a brief discussion regarding the fact that given Crow's legal status he would be unable to purchase a firearm from a commercial or private seller in the state of Washington. The mandate of an initiative passed in 2014 had made it a requirement for all legal sales of firearms in this State have a background check conducted on the purchaser before the sale can be legally made. Any legal transfer or sale of a firearm, specifically the one thrown down by Crow, would have been recorded. The officer testified that even if the seller did not know that the person to whom the sale was made could not legally own the gun sold, it would/could be a criminal act

on the part of the seller RP 193-5 When asked if there were any legal means by which a person could transfer, sell or give a gun to Crow, Officer Taylor answered 'No'. RP 195. The gun thrown was tested and was fully operational. RP 222, 225-227, 228-29.

On cross-examination Crow's asked questions of Officer Taylor how he was supposed to know the gun he was in possession of was stolen:

HEILMAN-SCHOTT: You testified about the firearm that was recovered. The serial numbers, and I understand from your testimony, the serial numbers weren't ground off? TAYLOR: Correct.

HEILMAN-SCHOTT: How is --- how is someone supposed to know if a gun is stolen or not?

TAYLOR: There's two ways. Obviously, the direct knowledge would be if they stole it, but a lot of times the way that I found people that know the firearm was stolen that they buy it illegally. If they buy it on the street from somebody who's not a legitimate gun salesman, buy it for a cheap price, most of the people that I come into contact with stolen firearms will say they bought it from somebody for fifty bucks, a hundred bucks. They assume that it's stolen based on the fact that it's not a legitimate gun sale and they're buying it so cheap. RP 198-99.

On redirect in response to questions on cross-examination, the State asked Taylor about the methods a person who may not legally obtain a firearm could obtain a firearm. Officer Taylor did not reference Crow nor did Crow object to any of this testimony:

TAYLOR: From my training and experience, they either will steal them or they will buy them from somebody that is selling them illegally on the street.

CLEMENTS: Okay and how are those illegally obtained

firearms, where do they typically come from in your training and experience?

TAYLOR: Burglaries, vehicle prowls, things like that. CLEMENTS: In your training and experience, do fleeing suspects often attempt to discard stolen property when they're being pursued?

TAYLOR: Yes.

CLEMENTS: Why is that?

TAYLOR: Because nobody wants to be caught with stuff

that they know they shouldn't have.

CLEMENTS: In your training and experience, what actions are indicative of somebody knowing something is stolen property?

TAYLOR: Typically, they're going to try to distance themselves as much as possible from it. They'll tell you stuff like I have no idea about it, I don't know anything about it, I don't know who I got it from or they'll give you very vague answers. I got it from Bob, over there, around this time. There's no specifics that you're able --- what they try to do is make it so there's no specifics that you can follow up with to confirm whether they knew or not knew or did not know that it was stolen.

CLEMENTS: So, discarding and flight are pretty common?

TAYLOR: Correct. RP 201-02.

. .

CLEMENTS: ...Okay. In your training and experience, what percentage of people apprehended are prohibited people with firearms are those guns stolen?

TAYLOR: Pretty high percentage. I would --- I couldn't guess a number, but I would say the majority.

CLEMENTS: Okay. And --- and in the case where those firearms are not reported, is there a reason that sometimes they're not reported as stolen or not in the system?

TAYLOR: A lot of times we come across firearms that are unregistered. Maybe they don't have an owner attached to it because they've been sold or transferred prior to Initiative 594 so there's not a record or the person who had the burglary with the firearms stolen doesn't have their serial numbers, so they're not able to list it. So, we're not able to confirm that the firearm is in fact stolen.

Officer Booker Ward also testified, Crow did not object at trial to the following testimony, he objected for the first time in his direct appeal. Officer Ward:

> CLEMENTS: Okay. In your training and experience, how do prohibited persons get firearms?

> WARD: Usually through burglaries, vehicle prowls, some way of that nature.

CLEMENTS: Okay, what percentage are stolen in your training and experience that turn up in prohibited person's hands?

WARD: I would say a high percentage.

CLEMENTS: Okay, based on Mr. Crow's status of being convicted of a serious offense at the time of the arrest, were there any lawful means at that time for Bryan Crow to receive a firearm or possess a firearm?

WARD: Any, no he shouldn't have been able to. Not with the background checks and that kind of stuff.

CLEMENTS: Okay, was there any lawful means which another person could give a prohibited person, such as Mr. Crow, a firearm?

WARD: No.

CLEMENTS: No?

WARD: I don't believe so. You'd have to ---once again, do the background checks and that kind of stuff and

transfers and... - RP 220

After this exchange the State moved for admission of the "Coban" video, Crow objected. Crow's trial counsel did not ask any questions of this witness.

Det. Deloza was asked by State's counsel how a prohibited person would get a firearm he testified as follows:

CLEMENTS: In your training and experience, what

percentage of firearms possessed by prohibited persons are stolen?

DELOZA: It's hard --- it's hard to say because a lot of the guns that are reported, not every has the serial numbers on them, but a lot of people --- most of the people that I know that are prohibited from having firearms obviously they're not allowed to have them so they had to get them somewhere else and most of them are stolen. RP 240

V. ARGUMENT – WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with the opinions in State v. Avendano-Lopez, infra., and State v. Francisco, infra.

1- <u>Conflict</u> - Petitioner requests this court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision. That opinion specifically states it does not agree with the opinion of Division II in <u>State v. Avendano-Lopez</u> infra., and while not cited by the court in Crow the opinion is also in conflict with the opinion issued by that Division's opinion in <u>State v. Francisco</u>, infra.

The State has included above information regarding Crow's counsel's motion in limine to exclude evidence. This was done to demonstrate Crow's attorney knew what he wanted, what was legally allowed into this trial and what was not. He moved to exclude the testimony about prior contacts, felonies and warrants and purposefully allowed in the circumstantial evidence of Crow's knowledge regarding the gun.

The court of appeals relied on cases from other jurisdictions and specifically stated "[we] question the reasoning or <u>Avendano-Lopez</u>" the Washington case that is on point.

1. Waiver - This issue was waived. Crow did not object or move to exclude this testimony because he intended to use is as a part of his defense. The court of appeals decision is in conflict with well settled case law that objection to rulings must be made in the trial court to allow that court to rule and opposing counsel to argue the issue. Guloy addresses that a litigant may only argue the specific objects the proffered in the trial court. State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 421-22, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). In addition, RAP 2.5 states this court will not address issues raised for the first time on appeal. The matters Crow objects to now are evidentiary in nature, they are not manifest errors of a constitutional nature which would allow review of an unpreserved issue. "Manifest" means a showing that actual prejudice has occurred. State v. Lynn, 67 Wn.App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). Error or no error there was no prejudice to Crow by the introduction of this testimony.

Even the cased the Court of Appeals cited from foreign jurisdictions required the appellant to have preserved this issue in the trial court. See Martinez, supra. Avendano-Lopez stated:

'Profile' testimony and permissible expert

opinion overlap, which underscores the necessity of objecting to questionable testimony during trial so that the trial court can limit any objectionable 'profile' aspect and channel the testimony toward admissible expert opinion instead. State v. Avendano-Lopez, 79 Wn. App. 706,711,904 P.2d 324 (1995), review denied, 129 Wn.2d 1007 (1996). (Crow Dissent – Slip at 1-2)

The reason this allegation was not preserved was because Crow wanted the jury to see the facts presented by the State were purely circumstantial regarding the State's proof the Crow had actual knowledge the gun was stolen. The State did not paint a picture of some overarching group of felons running an organization that gathered guns for future sale and use the felons of which Crow, clearly due to his throwing the gun and running was a member.

State v. Lamar, 180 Wn.2d 576, 327 P.3d 46, 51 (2014) "RAP 2.5(a)(3) serves a gatekeeping function that will bar review of claimed constitutional errors to which no exception was made unless the record shows that there is a fairly strong likelihood that serious constitutional error occurred." State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333-34, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) "As an exception to the general rule, therefore, RAP 2.5(a)(3) is not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can identify some constitutional issue not raised before the trial court. Rather, the asserted error must be "manifest" - i.e., it

must be "truly of constitutional magnitude". Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 688."

"The defendant must identify a constitutional error and show how, in the context of the trial, the alleged error actually affected the defendant's rights; it is this showing of actual prejudice that makes the error "manifest", allowing appellate review." State v. Nguyen, 165 Wn.2d 428, 433, 197 P.3d 673 (2008) "In general, an error raised for the first time on appeal will not be reviewed. An exception exists for a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3). This is a "`narrow'" exception. A "`manifest'" error is an error that is "unmistakable, evident or indisputable." An error is manifest if it results in actual prejudice to the defendant or the defendant makes a "`plausible showing'" "`that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." (Id, Citations omitted.)

2- <u>Profile</u> – The Court of Appeals cited <u>People v. Martinez</u>, 12

Cal. Rptr. 2d 838,10 Cal. App. 4th 1001 it is distinguishable. Martinez was the sole occupant of the car in his auto theft case. Martinez objected to "profile" testimony and he moved in limine to exclude evidence regarding there being unknown co-conspirators, the court however ruled the State would be allowed to have expert opinion on how "...auto theft rings operate. Thereafter, over defendant's objection, the court allowed (expert testimony about auto theft rings)" Id 1004-5. Clearly the issue in

Martinez and the reason it was overturned was the State attempted to paint Martinez as part of some overarching conspiracy to steal cars of a specific type, use a specific road to move the cars and other very specific testimony regarding this type of "ring" when there was no evidence that Martinez was anything other than a lone car thief.

This court must note that <u>Martinez</u> moved in limine to restrict this testimony and objected to the testimony. <u>Crow</u> did neither. <u>Martinez</u> and <u>Crow</u> are not the same.

Crow used this testimony in his closing. His case was challenging for trial counsel because the facts and the stipulation regarding his prior history regarding the other count. This was counsel's best chance at getting the jury see this case rested on the conjecture and statements of the officers not on "direct" evidence. It is noteworthy that Avendano-Lopez is often cited for the need to make a proper, timely and relevant objection in the trial court in order to preserve the issue and allow later review. A party cannot appeal a ruling admitting evidence unless the party makes a timely and specific objection to the admission of the evidence. State v. Avendano-Lopez, 79 Wn.App. 706, 710, 904 P.2d 324 (1995), review denied, 129 Wn.2d 1007, 917 P.2d 129 (1996) (citing ER 103). State v. Perez-Cervantes, 141 Wn.2d 468, 482, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000); State v. Guloy.

104 Wn.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S.Ct. 1208, 89 L.Ed.2d 321 (1986).

The lead opinion in <u>Crow</u> cites <u>State v. Cifuentes</u>, 171 Ariz. 257, 830 P.2d 469 (Ct. App. 1991) a later Arizona case, <u>State v. Lee</u>, 191 Ariz. 542, 959 P.2d 799 (1998), agreed profile testimony would be impermissible to prove the defendant's guilt because it "'create[d] too high a risk that [the] defendant w[ould] be convicted not for what he did but for what others are doing." Id quoting <u>State v. Cifuentes</u>, 171 Ariz. 257, 257, 830 P.2d 469, 469 (App. 1991). <u>BUT</u>, <u>Lee</u> noted such evidence could be used for other purposes, such as foundation for expert opinions or to "'assist the jury in understanding modus operandi in a complex criminal case." Id, quoting <u>United States v. Cordoba</u>, 104 F.3d 225, 230 (9th Cir. 1996).

The lead opinion stated, "We question the reasoning in <u>Avendano-Lopez</u>...The State should not be free to present profile testimony in the guise of background evidence." The ruling in <u>Crow</u> is clearly in conflict with <u>Avendano-Lopez</u> and is also in conflict with Division III's own prior opinion in <u>State v. Francisco</u>, 148 Wn.App. 168, 199 P.3d 478 (Div. 3 2009) *review denied*, 166 Wn.2d 1027,217 P.3d 337 (2009) wherein Chief Judge Schultheis' opinion citing <u>Avendano</u> addressed similar testimony from an officer allowed under ER 702 were the defendant raised an

unwitting possession defense. Paraphrasing <u>Francisco</u>; testimony in Crow assisted the trier of fact in understanding the method by which person who cannot legally purchase or possess a firearm may come to buy/own or possess that weapon. <u>Francisco</u> citing to <u>Avendano</u> "...finding no prejudicial error in the admission of testimony the defendant was able to use to his own advantage." Id at 177-8.

Police officers may testify to inferences or opinions if they are based on specialized training or experience and are helpful to jury. In <u>State v. Sanders</u>, 66 Wn.App. 380, 386, 832 P.2d 1326 (1992) the court allowed inference drawn by an officer based on absence of drug paraphernalia finding it was not objectionable since it was based on officer's training and experience in drug transactions.

The State had to prove Crow <u>knew</u>, beyond a reasonable doubt the gun was stolen. The he knew this very specific stolen item was stolen even though it was physically stolen from a city hundreds of miles from Yakima, taken from a person who had no connection with Crow a firearm Crow later alleged he had purchased off the street. The State has consistently stated the testimony about this black market, back alley, under the table market is not something your average juror would know about or understand. This information did was not of the category of the clear profile testimony such as was set forth in <u>Martinez</u>. The testimony was of

a generic nature, it did not a finger at Crow and say he was a felon and a thief and all felons posses' guns, and all guns possessed by felons are stolen. It was advisory information given to the jury to assist in their deliberation, submitted by both sides.

State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 576, 683 P.2d 173 (1984).

Testimony implying guilt based on the characteristics of known offenders is inadmissible because it invites the jury to conclude that because a defendant shares some of the characteristics, he is more likely to have committed the crime.

"Generally, expert evidence is helpful and appropriate when the testimony concerns matters beyond the common knowledge of the average layperson, and does not mislead the jury to the prejudice of the opposing party." State v. Jones, 59 Wn.App. 744, 750, 801 P.2d 263 (1990).

Testimony explaining complex, atypical or technical evidence may help the jury. See, e.g., State v. Avendano-Lopez, supra, State v. Madison, 53 Wn.App. 754, 764-65, 770 P.2d 662 (1989)(recantation)

The jury clearly needed this additional information regarding how a person would know if a firearm was stolen. The jury asked a question about knowledge (CP 173) regarding knowledge element in one instruction, 15 and the definition of knowledge found in instruction 9. (CP 163,169.) (Appendix C)

3- <u>Ineffective Assistance</u> - Again, this allegation was not preserved, there was no objection, where the trial court could have inquired of counsel as to the basis of his objection. Once again it was not objected to because Crow wanted it in. Crow's counsel clearly knew how to conduct a trial. He objected to and was granted motions in limine to exclude certain evidentiary items. He made objections which were sustained, he stipulated to Crow's history meeting the criterion for the other count so Crow's actual history, a prejudicial history, would not be proffered to the jury.

Where a defendant bases his ineffective assistance of counsel claim on trial counsel's failure to object, the defendant must show that the objection would likely have succeeded. State v. Gerdts, 136 Wn.App. 720, 727, 150 P.3d 627 (2007).

The lead opinion second guesses the action of this attorney, it retries this case without the benefit of being in the courtroom, without conversations with Crow over the months leading to this trial and the myriad of other factors that the cold black and white words that are read by a court of review do not portray.

Here Crow claimed the actions of his attorney was ineffective in this trial, but only as to one count. His claim must be evaluated using the two-prong test set forth in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 690-

92, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 67 4 (1984). Crow needs to establish both, part of this test. And this court must evaluate trial counsel's performance using a two-prong test that requires determination whether or not (1) counsel's performance failed to meet a standard of reasonableness and (2) actual prejudice resulted from counsel's failures.

The Supreme Court noted in Knowles v. Mirzayance, 556 U.S.

111, 124, 129 S.Ct. 1411, 173 L.Ed.2d 251 (2009) (quoting Strickland,
466 U.S. at 690) that "Mirzayance has not shown "that counsel's
representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id., at
687-688, 104 S.Ct. 2052. "The proper measure of attorney performance
remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Id.,
at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052. "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must
be highly deferential," and "a court must indulge a strong presumption that
counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional
assistance." Id., at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052. "[S]trategic choices made after
thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are
virtually unchallengeable." Id., at 690, 104 S.Ct. 2052. "[s]trategic
choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to
plausible options are virtually unchallengeable." (Emphasis added)

The lead opinion quoted form on from Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 481, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000) suggesting that

court has retreated from the standard adopted in *Strickland*, that there is a strong presumption that challenged actions were the result of reasonable trial strategy. The Court has not retreated from that principle. The quotation: "The relevant question is not whether counsel's choices were strategic, but whether they were reasonable." Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 481, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000), (Slip at 30)

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