FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/19/2019 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97259-1 Court of Appeals No. 35316-8-III IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner,

VS.

Bryan Crow

Appellant

Yakima County Superior Court Cause No. 15-1-00881-7 The Honorable Judge Richard H. Bartheld

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Manek R. Mistry Jodi R. Backlund Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

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

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION RESTS ON SETTLED PRECEDENT ESTABLISHING THE INADMISSIBILITY OF PROFILE TESTIMONY.

Expert opinions in the form of profile testimony are inadmissible.
State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 576, 683 P.2d 173 (1984), modified on other grounds by State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 756 P.2d 105 (1988).
Profile evidence has "virtually no probative value" and is unduly prejudicial because it implies a specific person's guilt based on characteristics of known offenders. State v. Braham, 67 Wn. App. 930, 939, 841 P.2d 785 (1992); see also State v. Claflin, 38 Wn. App. 847, 852, 690 P.2d 1186 (1984).

Here, as the Court of Appeals noted, the prosecution "sought to convict Bryan Crow by comparing him to other guilty people." Opinion, p.

 $^{^2}$ Mr. Crow did not challenge his conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm. See Appellant's Opening Brief.

³ The court also found the evidence insufficient to prove Mr. Crow's criminal history and remanded the case for a new sentencing hearing. RP 1, 36-37.

20. The State introduced profile evidence suggesting Mr. Crow was like others who knowingly possess stolen firearms. RP 201-203, 220, 239-240. Relying on this testimony in closing, the prosecutor asked jurors to infer that Mr. Crow had actual knowledge that the gun was stolen, based on characteristics he allegedly shared with others.⁴ RP 292-296, 299-303, 307-310.

This was improper, as the Court of Appeals recognized. Opinion, pp. 19-21. Its decision vacating Mr. Crow's conviction should stand.

There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).⁵ Petitioner's attempt to manufacture a conflict with other appellate decisions is misplaced. *See* Petition, pp. 1, 7-8, 12-13 (citing *State v. Avendano-Lopez*, 79 Wn. App. 706, 904 P.2d 324 (1995) and *State v. Francisco*, 148 Wn. App. 168, 199 P.3d 478 (2009)).

The lower court's opinion in this case does not conflict with any other appellate decision. Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the Court of Appeals followed the basic principles outlined in *Avendano-Lopez*.

Opinion, pp. 11, 14. Although the court criticized the outcome in that case,

⁴ Indeed, in its Petition, the State continues to assert that "[t]he jury clearly needed this additional information regarding how a person would know if a firearm was stolen." Petition, p. 14.

⁵ In its conclusion, Petitioner cites RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3). Petition, p. 19. This is the only reference to the rule in the entire Petition. The only argument touching on the criteria governing acceptance of review rests on the claimed conflict between this case and other Court of Appeals decisions. Petition, pp. 1, 7-8, 12-13.

it did not dispute the underlying legal principles relied upon by the *Avendano-Lopez* court. Opinion, pp. 11, 14, 20-21.

Furthermore, the appellant in *Avendano-Lopez* did not raise an ineffective assistance claim.⁶ *Id*. The *Avendano-Lopez* court's decision rested primarily on the defendant's failure to object.⁷ *Avendano-Lopez*, 79 Wn. App. at 710.

Here, by contrast, Mr. Crow *did* raise an ineffective assistance claim. *See* Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 9-11. The Court of Appeals reversed based on the prejudice caused by counsel's deficient performance.⁸ Opinion, pp. 30-33. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with *Avendano-Lopez*.

Nor is there any conflict with *Francisco*. In that case, the appellant challenged the admission of certain testimony under ER 406 but did not argue that it amounted to improper profile testimony. *Francisco*, 148 Wn. App. at 176-177. Nothing in the *Francisco* opinion suggests the State

⁶ Nor did the appellant argue a manifest error affecting his constitutional right to a jury trial. *Id.* Mr. Crow did argue manifest error. Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 5-6.

⁷ The court also noted that "defense counsel used the testimony to his own advantage," by showing how his client diverged from the profile. *Id.*, at 711-712. Mr. Crow's attorney was unable to make such an argument in this case.

⁸ The court assumed that counsel intentionally elicited some of the improper profile testimony. Opinion, p. 30. However, the court pointed out that counsel's questions and his failure to object to the remainder of the improper testimony served no legitimate strategic purpose. Opinion, pp. 30-31. This distinguishes Mr. Crow's case from *Avendano-Lopez*, where the defendant's attorney was able to show that his client did not fit the profile. *Id*.

relied on the challenged testimony as profile evidence establishing the defendant's guilt. Id. There is no conflict with *Francisco*.

Petitioner also appears to suggest that the Court of Appeals misapplied the test for ineffective assistance of counsel. Petition, pp. 16-19. But Petitioner does not explain how the Court of Appeals deviated from the standard articulated in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). *See* Petition, pp. 16-19.

Petitioner seems to imply that appellate courts must accept *any* strategy undertaken by defense counsel. Petition, pp. 16-19. This is incorrect. Only "legitimate" strategies or tactics can defeat a claim of ineffective assistance. *See State v. Estes*, 188 Wn.2d 450, 458, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017); *State v. Maynard*, 183 Wn.2d 253, 260, 351 P.3d 159 (2015).

Here, as the Court of Appeals pointed out, counsel's failure to object to inadmissible profile testimony was not a legitimate strategy because it increased the probability of conviction: "Trial counsel could have more effectively argued the lack of knowledge without the State's profile testimony, particularly since Crow closely fit the profile." Opinion, p. 30. The court went on to say that the inadmissible testimony "did nothing to emphasize the lack of proof, but instead presented additional proof that Crow should have known the gun to be stolen." Opinion, p. 30.

⁹ In addition, the Court of Appeals remarked that some of the challenged testimony favored the defense, making any error harmless. *Id.*, at 177-178 (citing *Avendano-Lopez*).

The court also noted that defense counsel's decision to elicit improper profile testimony on cross-examination "allowed the jury to convict Crow solely on the basis of his fitting a profile." Opinion, p. 31.

Counsel was not pursuing a legitimate strategy by allowing jurors to hear and consider inadmissible profile testimony. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the *Strickland* standard. Its opinion does not conflict with any other appellate decision.

There is no basis for the Supreme Court to grant review under RAP 13.4(b). The petition should be denied.

II. IF THE SUPREME COURT ACCEPTS REVIEW OF THE STATE'S PETITION, IT SHOULD ALSO DETERMINE WHETHER IMPROPERLY ADMITTED PROFILE EVIDENCE VIOLATES AN ACCUSED PERSON'S RIGHT TO A JURY DETERMINATION OF THE FACTS NECESSARY FOR CONVICTION.

The Court of Appeals reversed Mr. Crow's conviction based on his ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Opinion, pp. 1, 30-33, 36. It expressly declined to reach his argument that the admission of profile evidence violated his constitutional right to a jury trial. Opinion, p. 10; *see* Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 5-9.

If the Supreme Court accepts review of the State's Petition, it should also address the merits of Mr. Crow's direct constitutional claim.

A. Police testimony invaded the province of the jury and deprived Mr. Crow of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a jury trial.

The State used profile evidence to suggest Mr. Crow had actual knowledge that the firearm was stolen. The evidence consisted of nearly explicit "expert" opinions that Mr. Crow knew the firearm was stolen. Mr. Crow's conviction violated his right to a jury determination of the facts necessary for conviction.

1. The Supreme Court should review *de novo* this manifest constitutional error.

Alleged constitutional errors are reviewed *de novo. Blomstrom v. Tripp*, 189 Wn.2d 379, 389, 402 P.3d 831 (2017). A manifest error affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3).

To raise a manifest error, an appellant need only make "a plausible showing that the error... had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial." *State v. Lamar*, 180 Wn.2d 576, 583, 327 P.3d 46 (2014). ¹⁰ An error has practical and identifiable consequences if "given what the trial court knew at that time, the court could have corrected the error." *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 100, 217 P.3d 756 (2009), as corrected (Jan. 21, 2010).

 $[\]overline{\ }^{10}$ The showing required under RAP 2.5 (a)(3) "should not be confused with the requirements for establishing an actual violation of a constitutional right." *Id.*

Here, the prosecutor introduced improper profile evidence that invaded the province of the jury, and then sought conviction based on that evidence. RP 202-203, 220, 239-240, 292-296, 299, 303, 307-310. Given what the trial judge knew at the time, he could have corrected the error. *Id.* The error is manifest and may be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. King*, 167 Wn.2d 324, 331-332, 219 P.3d 642 (2009).

2. The prosecutor improperly relied on profile evidence amounting to a nearly explicit opinion that Mr. Crow knew the firearm he possessed was stolen.

Testimony providing an improper opinion of guilt invades the constitutional right to a jury trial. *Id.*; U.S. Const. Amend. VI, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, §§21, 22. Neither a lay nor an expert witness may offer improper opinion testimony by direct statement or inference. *Id.*

Testimony is improper if it amounts to a nearly explicit opinion on the defendant's guilt. *Id.*, at 333. A police officer's improper opinion may be particularly prejudicial because it carries "a special aura of reliability." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007)).

An expert opinion in the form of "profile" testimony creates the risk of "unfair prejudice and the ensuing false impression the jury might derive about the value of the expert's ostensible inference." *Braham*, 67 Wn. App. at 935. Such evidence has "virtually no probative value." *Id.*, at

939. It is unduly prejudicial because it suggests the accused is guilty based on characteristics shared with other offenders. *Id.*, at 939.

To obtain a conviction for possession of a stolen firearm, the State was required to prove that Mr. Crow knew the gun was stolen. RCW 9A.56.140; RCW 9A.56.310; CP 169. The prosecutor could have introduced testimony about Mr. Crow's actions and argued appropriate inferences from those actions in closing.¹¹

Instead of staying within permissible limits, the prosecutor elicited improper profile testimony, which he then relied on heavily in closing argument. RP 202-203, 220, 239-240, 292-296, 299, 303, 307-310. This invaded Mr. Crow's constitutional right to have the jury determine the facts necessary for conviction. *King*, 167 Wn.2d at 331-332.

Three officers provided testimony about felons and stolen guns, based on their "training and experience." RP 201-203, 220, 239-240.

Taylor told jurors that Mr. Crow's behaviors were, in his training and experience, "pretty common" indicators of a suspect's knowledge that an item is stolen. RP 201-202. Taylor and Deloza each testified, based on their training and experience, that most instances of unlawful possession involve stolen firearms. RP 203, 239-240. Ward testified that, based on his

¹¹ Thus, for example, it would have been proper to suggest that Mr. Crow's flight showed consciousness of guilt, and that he discarded the gun (at least in part) because he knew it was stolen. *See, e.g., State v. Price*, 126 Wn. App. 617, 645, 109 P.3d 27 (2005) (discussing flight as evidence of guilt).

training and experience, a "high percentage" of stolen firearms turn up in the hands of felons and other prohibited persons. RP 220.

The purpose of the testimony was to suggest that Mr. Crow knew the firearm was stolen because he fit within the profile described by each officer. The focus on "training and experience" implied that the testimony derived from each officer's expertise. *See* ER 702 (noting that a witness may be "qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education.").

The improper profile testimony implied Mr. Crow's guilt—his knowledge that the firearm was stolen—based on characteristics of others who may knowingly possess stolen firearms. *See Braham*, 67 Wn. App. at 939. It amounted to a nearly explicit opinion on guilt, given Mr. Crow's failure to contest possession. *King*, 167 Wn.2d at 331-332.

The testimony invaded the province of the jury and violated Mr. Crow's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a jury trial. *Id.* His conviction for possession of a stolen firearm must be reversed and the charge remanded for a new trial. *Id.*

B. This case involves a significant constitutional issue that is of substantial public interest. If the Supreme Court grants the State's Petition, it should also review Mr. Crow's constitutional claim.

The Supreme Court will accept review of a case raising significant constitutional questions or issues of substantial public interest. RAP

13.4(b)(3) and (4). If the Court accepts review of the State's Petition, it should also review Mr. Crow's claim that the improper admission of profile testimony violated his constitutional right to a jury determination of the facts necessary for conviction.

Mr. Crow's argument raises a significant constitutional question that is also an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Supreme Court should deny review. In the alternative, if the Court grants the State's Petition, it should also review Mr. Crow's constitutional claim that the improper admission of profile testimony violated his right to a jury trial.